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THE CONCORD GUIDE BOOK.

CHAPTER 1.

EARLY HISTORY, CHURCHES AND BURYING GROUNDS.

Pagsengers for Concord, Mass., can take the cars in
Boston by way of the Fitchburg or Boston and Lowell Rail
Roads, which are near each other on Causeway sireet. Com-
ing from New York by rail or steamboat vi« Fall River or New
Haven, from the West direct over the Fitchburg Rail-
roud — Hoosac Tunnel Route, or from the East and North
at Ayer Junction. At the Concord depot carriages are always
in readiness to convey tourists to all objects of interest in and
about the town, to which this little book endeavors to call theix
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attention by giving a glance at the history, legends, and litera-
ture which have rendered the place somewhat noted.

The Town of Concord, probably so named from the peace-
ful manner of its purchase, was settled by a company of about
a dozen families, most of whom came directly from England for
that purpose, having been encouraged in this plan by a traveller
who visited the spot in the year 1638. These pilgrims endured
great hardships in their passage from tide water to this spot,
being compelled to wade through deep swamps and penetrate
with great difficulty through tangled thickets. They suffered
greatly from the loss of their cattle which died in great numbers
from change of diet and climate. The Indian name of the set-
tlement was Musket-a-quid or the Grass-Grown River, and the
broad meadows lying for many miles along the river were great-
ly esteemed by their aboriginal owners as hunting grounds and
corn fields; but a peaceful purchase was made about the year
1637, the transaction having occurred, according to a legend,
under a great tree called Jethro’s Oak, which stood near the
present site of the Middlesex Hotel. The savage proprietors
seemed to have been well disposed and friendly to the new
comers who labored earnestly for their conversion and improve-
ment. The apostle Eliot often preached to them, and through
his influence, about the year 1656,a large company of praying
Indians existed, who cultivated the land and had an excellent
code of laws, a copy of which is still extant. During the next
twenty years the good feeling originally existing between the

English and Indians seems to have gradually given place to the
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tion. The church was organized at Cambridge, in 1636, and in
1687 the Rev. Peter Bulkeley and John Jones were chosen as
the teacher and the pastor. In this organization, like most
of those under two heads, some difficulty seems to have arisen,
and a part of the congregation seceded for a time, and some of
the people followed Mr. Jones on his subsequent removal from

FIRST CHURCH.

the town. Mr. Bulkeley came from noble ancestry, was renowned
as a finished scholar and gentleman, and expended his means
and strength for his town and church with a liberality only
equalled by his piety. He died universally lamented, March
9th, 1659, at which time his son, the Rev. Edward, was in-
stalled in his place. The Rev. Joseph Esterbrook, Rev. Mr.
Whiting, and Rev. Mr. Bliss successively succeeded him.
After them came the eloquent divine and fearless patriot, Rev.
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God wills us free, man wills us slaves,
I will as God wills; God’s will be done.

Here lies the body of
JOHN JACK
A native of Africa, who died
March 1773 aged about sixty years.

Though born in a land of slavery,
He was born free.
Though he lived in a land of liberty,
H= lived a slave;

Till by his honest though stolen labor
He acquired the source of slavery,
Which gave him his freedom :
Though not long before
Death the grand tyrant,

Gave him his final emancipation,
And put him on a footing with kings.
Though a slave to vice,

He practised those virtues,
Without which kings are but slaves.

On the first white stone which was placed in this cemetery is
this inscription, curious as showing the date when white marble
superseded the common slate :

This stone is designed
by its durability
to perpetuate the memory,
and by its colour
to signify the moral character,
of
MISS ABIGAIL DUDLEY,

.
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seats and decorations. The oration at the dedication was deliv-
ered by Emerson, and an ode by F. B. Sanborn was sung, which
is copied here from * Parnassus.” :

Shine kindly forth, September sun,
From heavens calm and clear,

That no untimely cloud may run
Before thy golden sphere,

To vex our simple rites to-day
With one prophetic tear.

With steady voices let us raise
The fitting psalm and prayer;

Remembered grief of other days
Breathes softening in the air:

‘Who knows not Death — who mourns no loss —
He has with us no share.

To holy sorrow, solemn joy,
We consecrate the place

Where soon shall sleep the maid and boy,
The father and his race,

The mother with her tender babe,
The venerable face.

These waving woods, these valleys low,
Between these tufted knolls,

Year after year shall dearer grow
To many loving souls;

And flowers be sweeter here than blow
Elsewhere between the poles.

For deathless Love and blessed Grief
Shall guard these wooded aisles,

When either Autumn casts the leaf,
Or blushing Summer smiles,

Or Winter whitens o'er the \and,
Or Spring the buds uncoils.
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Many of the most marked graves are on The Ridge.
Ascending the hill by Ridge Path, at the west, Nathaniel
Hawthorne’s grave is seen, surrounded by a low hedge of arbor
vitee, as if the gifted author sought in death the modest retire-
ment which he loved in life. His cloquent epitaph consists
only of his name on a plain white stone.

The grave of Thoreau is just behiud, with a common red
stone; and by his side lies his brother John, whose genius
might have outshone that of the poet, philosopher, and natural-
ist, had not he died in its first flush.

A little farther on, pust the graves of Nathan Brooks and
John M. Chency, citizens whose worth and virtue have caused
their names to be honored forever by their townsinen, may be
seen the Whiting monument, a copy of the Brewster monu-
ment at Plymouth, and that of Col. George L. Prescott, the
patriot martyr who fell in response to his country’s earliest call
for help.

On the opposite side of Ridge Path is the grave of R.
W. Emerson, to which thousands of visitors come every
year. A great pine stands near the head of the grave, which
is now marked by a monument of beautiful pink quartz, in its
native state, as it came from the quarry. Near by are the
graves of Lis mother, and the son whose monument is the
poem of *Threnody.”

A plain brown slab commemorates in a Latin verse Mus.
Samuel Ripley, whose classical attainments have been chron-
jeled in the Centennial book by the loving hand of another of

the most gilted women that our conntry ever knew.
In the center of the same lot is the monnment et song
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Lieut. Ezra Ripley, a portion of whose epitaph is here copied :

Of the best Pilgrim stock,
descended from officers in the Revolutionary army
and from a long line of the ministers of Concord,
he was worthy of his lineage.
An able and successful lawyer,
he gave himself with persistent zeal
to the cause of the friendless and the oppressed.
Of slender physical strength
and of a nature refined and delicate,

He was led by patriotism and the love of freedom
to leave home and friends for the toilsome labors of war,
and shrank from no fatigue and danger,
until worn out in her service,

He gave his life for his country.

Just opposite is the plain shaft, erected by himself twenty
years before his death, of Dr. Josiah Bartlett, who practised
medicine in this town with devotion and success for a period of
fifty-five years. He was the son of Dr. Josiah Bartlett, of
Charlestown, who was a surgeon’s mate, in 1775, at Concord
Fight, sothat the practice of father and son extended over a
century. Ide was an earnest and fearless advocate of the cause
of temperance when it was most unpopular, and was always on
the side of the oppressed. He died in January, 1878, in active
practice at the age of eighty-one.

Ou the sid? of the hill, on Glen Path, is the monument
designed by ITammatt Billings, and erected to the memory of
the Hon. Samuel Iloar, who Dby his descendants, as well as by
the probity and simple grandeur of his Nie,has Jone wese o
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elevate the standard of living than any cther man in the town
or county. His epitaph, which is here copied, will speak far
better than any words of this book. At the upper portion, on
a tablet resembling a window, is this quotation from Pilgrim’s
Progress-

 The pilgrim they laid in a chamber
Whose window opened toward the sunrising ;
‘The name of the chamber was Peace.
There he lay till break of day, and then

He arose and sang.”

Lower on the same face of the monument:

SAMUEL HOAR
of Concord.
‘Born in Lincoln, May, 1778,
Died in Concord, Nov. 2, 1856.
He was long one of the most eminent lawyers
and best beloved citizens of Mass.,
a safe counsellor, a kind neighbor,
a Christian gentleman.

He had a dignity that commanded the respect,
and a sweetness and modesty that won the affection
of all men.

He practised an economy that never wasted,
and a liberality that never spared.

Of proved capacity for the highest offices,

He never avoided obscure duties.

He never sought stations of fame or emolument,
and never shrank
from positions of danger or obloquy.
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His days were made happy
by public esteem and private affection.
To the latest moment of his long life
be preserved his clear intellect unimpaired,
and fully conscious of its approach,
met death with the perfect assurance of
immortal life.

We copy, also, another inscription from the same family lot,
in memory of his daughter, whose death was mourned as the
greatest of calamities, as her life was held by all as the greatest
of blessings.

MISS ELIZABETH HOAR,
Died April 7, 1878, aged 63.
Her sympathy with what is high and fair
brought her into intimacy with many
eminent men and women of her time.
Nothing excellent or beautiful escaped
her quick apprehension ; and in her
unfailing memory precious things
lay in exact order as in a royal treasury,
hospitably ready to instruct and
delight young and old. Her calm
courage and simple religious faith
triumphed over sickness and pain ; and
when Death transplanted her to her
place in the Garden of the Lord,
He found little perishable to prune away.

The first burial in Sleepy Hollow was that of Mrs. Maria
Holbrook, in the fall of 1855. The first Hurial in Yoe New W™
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Burying Ground was that of Mrs. Anna Robbins in 1828,
which fact is noted on the stone. In the year 1869 the town
purchased the land of the Agricultural Society, and thus united
the New Hill Ground with Sleepy Hollow.

In the summer of 1873, Mr. George Tolman, impressed
with the fact that many of the older stones had disappeared,
and that others were fast becoming illegible, undertook the
task of copying all the inscriptions, so that they might be
preserved. Being himself a printer and a practical proof-
reader he has permitted nothing to escape his observation,
but has followed the inscriptions literally, even to the abbre-
viations, punctuation, errors in spelling, and all such minor
points. These copies have been arranged in a manuseript
volume, and thoroughly indexed. To the student of geneal-
ogy, these inscriptions have a peculiar value, as they often
afford evidence as to facts and dates omitted in the Town
Registers of births and deaths. To add to their value in this
respect, Mr. Tolman has added genealogical notes, carefully
tracing the line of descent and family connection, in many
cases, especially those of members of our own old families,
going back to the earliest ancestor of the name. The inter-
ments in the “New Burying Ground,” and in * Sleepy Hol-
low” have also been indexed by the same gentleman with
such completeness that there is probably no grave in any of
our burial places, with the exception of the unmarked ones
in the two old yards, to which his manuseript is not a suf-
ficient guide. He is at all times ready to show his work to
any one who may desire to consult it for information.



CHAPTER II.
‘THE BATTLE GROUND.

The Batt,'® around was presented to the town by the Rev.
Dr. Ripley, who remarked in Town Meeting a half century ago
that the time would come when the spot would be a place of
great interest to many. How well the prediction has been ful-
filled, the daily stream of visitors bears abundant witness. It
is on Monument St., nearly half a mile from the ceuter of the
town, and near the Old Manse, having been a part of the farm
belonging to it since the course of the road was changed which
formerly crossed the old North Bridge.

The legends of the Fight being somewhat contradictory iun
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minor parts, it has been thought best to follow in this brief
sketch the account of Lemuel Shattuck, and that of the Rev.
Dr. Ripley, adding in full the extract from the diary of the Rev.
Mr. William Emerson, which was discovered and first published
in 1885, by his grandson, Mr. R. W. Emerson. The following
is a concise statement abridged from Shattuck's History of Con-
cord, published in 1885. It should be borne in mind that it is
not within the scope of this book to allude to events which did

not take place in the town.

The morning had advanced to about seven o’clock, and the British army
were soon seen approaching the town on the Lexington road. The glitter-
ing arms of eight hundred soldiers, « the flower of the British army ” were
full in view. At first it was thought best that our men should face the
enemy, as few as they were, and abide the consequences. Of this opinion,
among others, was the Rev. William Emerson, the clergyman of the town,
who had turned out amongst the first in the morning to animate and encour-’
age his people by his counsel and patriotic example. “Let us stand our
ground,” said he; “if we die, let us die here!” Eleazar Brooks of Lincoln
was then on the hill. “Let us go and meet them,” said one to him. * No,”
he answered, * it will not do for #s to begin the war.” They did not then
know what had happened at Lexington. Their number was very small in
comparison with the enemy, and it was concluded best to retire a short dis-
tance, and wait for reinforcements. They consequently marched to the
northern declivity of the burying ground hill, near the present site of the
court house. They did not, however, leave their station till the British light
infantry had arrived within a few rods’ distance. About this time Colonel
James Barrett, who was commander of the militia, and who had been almost
incessantly engaged that morning in securing the stores, rode up. Individ-
uals were frequently arriving, bringing different reports. It was difficult to
obtain correct information. Under these circumstances, he ordered the men
there paraded, being about one hundred and fifty, to marxch aver the North






30 THE CONCORD GUIDE BOOK.

minute-men under Col. William Prescott, and other men of distinction had
already assembled. The hostile acts and formidable array of the enemy,
and the burning of the articles they had collected in the village, led them to
anticipate a general destruction. Joseph Hosmer, acting as adjutant, formed
the soldiers as they arrived singly or in squads, the minute companies on the
right, and the militia on the left, facing the town. He then, observing an
unusual smoke arising from the center of the town, went to the officers and
citizens in consultation on the high ground near by, and inquired earnestly,
“Will you let them burn the town down ?” They then * resolved to march
into the middle of the town to defend their homes, or die in the attempt ;
and at the same time they resolved not to fire unless first fired upon. *“They
acted upon principle, and in the fear of God.” Col. Barrett immediately
" gave orders to march by wheeling from the right. Major Buttrick requested
Lieut. Col. Robinson to accompany him, and led them in double file to the
scene of action. When they came to the road leading from Capt. Brown’s
to the bridge, a part of the Acton minute company under Capt. Davis passed
by in front, marched towards the bridge a short distance, and halted. Being
in files of two abreast, the Concord minute company under Capt. Brown,
being before at the head, marched up the north side till they came equally
in front. The precise position, however, of each company, cannot now be
fully ascertained.

The British, observing their motions, immediately formed on the east side
of the river, and soon began to take up the planks of the bridge. Against
this Maj. Buttrick remonstrated, and ordered a quicker step of his soldiers.
The British desisted. At that moment two or three guns were fired in quick
succession into the river, which the provincials considered as alarm guns,
and not aimed at them. They had arrived within ten or fifteen rods of the
bridge when a single gun was fired by a British soldier, the ball from which,
passing under Col. Robinson’s arm, slightly wounded the side of Luther
Blanchard, a fifer in the Acton company, and Jonas Brown, one of the Con-
cord minute-men. This gun was instantly followed by a volley, by which
Capt. Isaac Davis and Abner Hosmer, both belonging to Acton, were killed.
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The following is an extract from the diary of Rev. William
Emerson :

“1775, 19 April. This morning, between one and two o’clock, we were
alarmed Dby the ringing of the bell, and upon examination found that the
troops, to the number of eight hundred, had stolen their march from Boston,
in boats and barges, from the bottom of the Common over to a point in
Cambnidge, near to Inman’s Farm, and were at Lexington meeting-house
half an hour before sunrise, where they had fired upon a body of our men
and, as we afterward heard, had killed several. This intelligence was
brought us first by Dr. Samuel Prescott, who narrowly escaped the guard
that were sent before on horses, purposely to prevent all posts and messen-
gers from giving us timely information. He, by the help of a very fleet
horse, crossing several walls and fences, arrived at Concord at the time
above mentioned, when several posts were immediately despatched, that,
returning, confirmed the account of the regulars’ arrival at Lexington, and
that they were on their way to Concord. Upon this, a number of our minute
men belonging to this town, and Acton and Lincoln, with several others
that were in readiness, marched out to ‘meet them, while the alarm com-
pany were preparing to receive them in the town. Capt. Minot, who
commanded them, thought it proper to take possession of the hill above the
meeting-house as the most advantageous situation. No sooner had our
men gained it, than we were met by the companies that were sent out to
meet the troops, who informed us that they were just upon us, and that
we must retreat, as their number was more than treble ours. We then
retreated from the hill near the Liberty Pole, and took a new post back
of the town, upon an eminence, where we formed into two battalions, and
waited the arrval of the enemy. Scarcely had we formed, before we saw
the British troops, at the distance of a quarter of a mile, glittering in
arms, advancing towards us with the greatest celerity. Some were ¢{
making a stand, notwithstanding the superiority of their number;
others, more prudent, thought best to retreat, till our strength s

egqual to the enemy's, by recruits from neighboring towns Yak
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tinually coming in to our assistance. Accordingly we retreated over the
bridge. The troops came into the town, set fire to several carriages for
the artillery,destroyed sixty barrels of flour, rifled several houses, took pos-
session of the town-house, destroyed five hundred pounds of balls, set a
guard of a hundred men at the North Bridge, and sent up a party to the
house of Col. Barrett, where they were in expectation of finding a quantity
of warlike stores. But these were happily secured, just before their arrival,
by transportation into the woods and other by-places. In the mean time,
the guard set by the enemy to secure the posts at the North Bridge were
alarmed by the approach of our people, who had retreated, as mentioned
before, and were now advancing, with special orders not to fire upon the
troops unless fired upon. These orders were so punctually observed, that
we received the fire of the enemy in three several and separate discharges of
their pieces before it was returned by our commanding officer. The firing
then soon became general for several minutes, in which skirmish two were
killed on each side, and several of the enemy wounded. It may here be
observed, by the way, that we were the more cautious to prevent beginning a
rupture with the king’s troops, as we were then uncertain what had happened
at Lexington, and knew [not] that they had begun the quarrel there by
firing upon our people, and killing eight men upon the spot. The three
companies of troops soon quitted their post at the bridge, and retreated in
the greatest disorder and confusion to the main body, who were soon upon
the march to meet them. For half an hour, the enemy, by their marches
and counter-marches, discovered great fickleness and inconstancy of mind;
sometimes advancing sometimes returning to their former posts, till at
length they quitted the town, and retreated by the way they came. In the
mean time a party of our men (one hundred and fifty) took the back way,
through the Great Fields, into the east quarter, and had placed themselves to
advantage, lying in ambush behind walls, fences, and buildings, ready to fire
upon the enemy on their retreat,”



CHAPTER III.

HOUSES OF HISTORICAL INTEREST.

Under this head it is proposed to give a list of all houses any
part of which was standing at the time of the Fight. Of most
of them it has been difficult to find the exact date of their
erection, but it has been approximated as nearly as possible.
Few have been included which are more than a mile from the
center of the town, and none of which there is a doubt of their
being in existence or in progress at the date above mentioned.

On the square the Wright tavern stands just as on the day
when Maj. Pitcairn entered it on the morning before the battle,
when he stirred the brandy with his bloody finger, making the re-

30
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which some of the DProvincial supplies were kept, to obtain
which wus one of the causes of the invasion of the town by
the British troops.

Proceeding down the Boston road the house of Jonas Lee
is about opposite the end of the yellow block. Its owner was a
staunch patriot, although the son of a noted tory who was
brought to discipline by his townsmen for that cause. ‘The
next house on the same side was the home of Dr. Joseph Hunt;
and the next building but one was the shop of Reuben Brown,
where knapsacks, saddlery and other equipments were made.
Its owner was prominent on the day of the Fight having been dis-
patched on a reconnoitering tour toward Lexington in the morn-
ing. The house next to it was also standing, as well as the one
occupied by George Heywood, Esq., which is supposed to be at
least two hundred years old. It was just below this house that
the guard was posted, at the same time that one was placed at
the old North and another at the old South bridge, A little
below is the Beal house, and half a mile below it the Alcott
house, both of which date back to about 1740. The house of
Ephraim Bull, Esq., was probably nearly as old, and it is well
known all over the United States through the Concord Grape
which was originated here by its present owner. Half a mile
below is Merriam's corner. The old house stands as it stood
when the Reading and other troops under the command of Gov.
Brooks, came up and joined the men who had come across the
great fields from the North Bridge, and killed and wounded
several of the retreating British.
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ering them, although they destroyed several of her beds in the
search.

Nearly behind this house is another old one built about 1763,
which was the home of Ephriam Wood, Esq., who was a zealous
patriot and an officer of the town, and was engaged in secreting
some stores in another place, and escaped the search which was
made for him through the house. A short distance up the road
which passes in front of Adjutant, afterwards known as Maj.
Hosmer’s house, is another old house which belonged to a
member of the same family, and half a mile east of it is the
house of Abel Hosmer, the huilder of which was on his way to
Charlestown for a load of brick when he met the British coming
from Lexington.

Opposite the Depot of the extension of the Middlesex
branch of the Central R. R. stands the house of the celebrated Dr.
Cummings. In early life he was a soldier in the wars with the In-
dians. DBeing wounded, he was captured, treated with severity
at first, and atterwards with kindness. Hereceived a commission
from the Crown as Justice of the Peace, and at the beginning of
the Revolution he became chairman of the committee of corre-
spondence, inspection and safety. After the war he acquired
property and left bequests to the church, town, Harvard Col-
lege, cte. ‘

Going up Monument street toward the Battle Ground,
the first of the old houses is that owned by Mr. Lang which
was built by Humphrey Barrett, the great grandfather of Col.
James Barrett who had command of the American forces. He
came to Concord in 1640, and a portion of the house bears
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of whom was Maj. John Buttrick the hero of the Fight. His
brothers Samuel, Joseph and Daniel all left their farms and
served under the Maj. at the bridge. Their houses are now
standing on the Carlisle road above Ponkawtassett on the farms
which were given them by their father. The Ball Hill farm-
house was also built long before 1775, and a son of the family,
Benjamin Ball,was killed at Bunker Hill. The old Whittaker
house was also where it is now, just behind Ponkawtassett.
The Hunt house was the oldest on this hill, and it was the one
at which the Americans were supplied with food as they assem-
bled on the hill waiting for reinforcements. The house of
Capt. Nathan Barrett who commanded the fourth company at
the fight, and who joined in the pursuit of the British, and was
wounded in the aftecrnoon of that day, was near Mr. Hunt’son
Ponkawtassett ; and the house of his father,Col. James Barrett,
also stands near Annursnuck hill on the same spot as it occu-
pied in 1775. Ile was in command of the American forces
engaged, and discharged the onerous duties also of the arrange-
ment and protection of the public stores. Being one of the
most prominent men of the town, a party of British soldiers
searched his house as well as that of his brother which stood
near. They were provided with refreshments by the wife of
Col. Barrett who refused payment, saying: “We are com-
manded to feed our enemies.” She afterwards kept with reluc-
tance the money which they threw into her lap, saying, this
is the price of blood.” This heroic woman succeeded in con-
cealing a quantity of ammunition, but fifty dollars was taken by
the soldiers who also arrested her son whom she persuaded them
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safety, as the victorious Americans did not attempt to follow
the British with whom they had been engaged, on their way
back to the center of the town, but they crossed over the great
fields as before stated in order to intercept the British forces at
Merriam’s Corner.

The college road which is near the Barrett house is a lasting
memorial of the time when Harvard College was removed to
Concord in the winter of 1775, by order of the Provincial Con-
gress, as the college buildings at Cambridge were needed for
the nse of the soldiers of the American Army. The Rev. Dr.
Ripley and Dr. Hurd, and several other men afterward well
known in the annals of their state, were among those who
made a visit to Concord at this period. A letter of thanks
from the President of the college is still extant, in which he
expresses his gratitude and apologies in graceful terms. The
Professors were quartered in several houses in the village, the
President himself residing at Dr. Minot’s near the Middlesex
hotel.

Many of the students boarded at the old mansion house,
built by Simon Willard, one of the founders of the town, at
the foot of Lee’s hill. If this article were not necessarily con-
fined to the Historical houses at present standing,a picture
of the Willard house would be of great interest; but the -
building unfortunately was destroyed by fire about twenty
years ago.

This house stood on the farm of a noted tory named Lee,
who made himself so unpopular that he was confined to the
Jimits of his farm,and legend states that the minute men wheq
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Atlantic to seek a new home in America, and they fearlessly
faced the hardships of a new life in the rugged wilderness
where they sought to establish a home secure in the blessings
of civil and religious liberty. How well they builded is a part
of the world’s history.

The descendants of William Hunt purpose to commemorate
the share that their ancestor had in the settlement of the town
of Concord, by a reunion of the different branches of the Hunt
family, and their alliances, at Concord, Wednesday, August 12,
1885.

It is proposed to hold the Reunion at the center of the town,
and to visit the old homestead farm. The programme will
include an Oration, Poem, Addresses, Reading of Papers con-
taining interesting facts of the fam'ily, Music, a Dinner, and a
Social Gathering in the Town Hall.

On the 12th of September, 1885, the town of Concord will
celebrate its two hundred and fiftieth Anniversary with appro-
priate exercises. A committee has been appointed to desig-
nate by tablets the chief places of note in connection with the
early history of the town, most of which are described in this
book.



CHAPTER 1V.

-

HOUSES OF LITERARY INTEREST.

The Home of Ralph Waldo Emersoni: a plain, square,
wooden house, standing in a grove of pine trees, which conceal
the front and side from the gaze of passers. Tall chestnut
trees ornament the old-fashioned yard, through which a road
leads to the plain, yellow barn in the rear. A garden fills half
an acre at the back, and has for years been famous for its roses
and also has a rare collection of hollyhocks, the flowers that
Wordsworth loved, and most of the old-time annuals and
shrubs. From the road a gate, which is always open, leads
over marble flag-stones to the broad, low step before the hospit-
able door.

49
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A long hall divides the centre of the house, with two large
square rooms on each side; a plain, solid table stands at the
right of this entry, over which is an old picture of Ganymede.

The first door on the right leads to the study, a plain, square
room, lined on one side, with simple wooden shelves filled with
choice books; a large mahogany table stands in the middle,
covered with books, and by the morocco writing pad lies the
pen which has had so great an influence for twenty-five years
on the thoughts of two continents. A large fire-place, with
a low grate occupies the lower end, over which hangs
a fine copy of Michael Angelo’s Fates, the faces:of the strong-
minded women frowning upon all who would disturb with idle
tongues this haunt of solemn thought. On the mantle shelf are
busts aud statuettes of men promiuent in the great reforms of
the age, and a quaint, rough idol brought from the Nile. A
few choice engravings hang upon the walls, and the pine trees
shade the windows.

Two doors, one on each side of the great fire place, lead into
the large parlor which fills the southern quarter of the house.
This room is hung with curtains of crimson and carpeted with
a warm color, and when a bright fire is blazing on the broad
hearth reflected in the large mirror opposite, the effect is cheer-
ful in the extreme. A beautiful portrait of one of the daugh-
ters of the house is hung in this pleasant and homelike room,
whose home circle seems to reach around. the world ; for almost
every person of note who has visited this country, has enjoyed
its genial hospitality, and listened with attention to the words
of wisdom from the kindly master of the house — the most
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ten to be met, a plain, poorly-dressed old farmer, seeming out
of place, and absorbed in his own plans until some allusiou,
or chance remark, would fire his soul and light up his rugged
features.

But a dozen volumes would not give space enough to mention
in full the many guests from foreign lands, who have been
entertained at this house, which is also a favorite place for the
villagers to visit. The xchool-children of Concord are enter-
tained lere every year with merry games and dances, and they
look forward with great interest to the eventful occasion.

The house was partially destroyed by five in the spring of
1873, and was rebuilt as nearly as possible like the former.
During the building a portion of the family found shelter in the
Old Manse, the home of Mr. Emerson’s grandfather, while Mr.
Emerson himself visited Europe. Upon his return an im-
promptu reception took place; the citizens gathered at the
depot in crowds, the school children were drawn up in two
smiling rows, through which he passed, greeted by enthusiastic
cheers and songs of welcome. All followed his carriage to the
house and sung © ITome, Sweet Home,” to the music of the
band. A few days afterward he invited all his fellow-citizens
to call and see him in his new home, and nearly all the inhabi-
tants availed themselves of the opportunity.

The house stands on an old country road, up which the
British marched on the memorable 19th of April, 1775. 1Tt is
not necessary to speak of the writings of Mr. Emerson, as they
are too well-known to need mention here. Mr. Emerson - died
on the 27th of April, 1882, and was ‘buried on the following
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Dr. Ripley ; and a set of curious, old, high-backed chairs recall
the days of our upright ancestors.

Oppuosite this room is a big kitchen with its enormous fire-
place, which twenty-five years ago was used wholly by the
present occupants for all purposes of cooking. The hooks
which held the long, iron crane on which the pots and kettles
hung still remain, although a modern cooking stove occupies
the chief part of the broad hearth. ]

The Old Manse was the principal house of the town for many
years, and probably the only one which had two stories, as
almost all of the houses of its period were built with a lean-to.
It was also the only one which was built with two chimneys,
thus giving a large garret, which is rich in the curious lumber
of two generations, and stored with literature enjoyed ounly by
the spider and the moth. In one corner, on the southern side,
is a curious little room which has been always known as the
«“Saints’ Chamber,” its walls bearing inscriptions in the hand-
writing of the holy men who have rested there.

The room over the dining-room is perhaps the most interest-
and also

ing, forit was here that Emerson wrote «“Nature’
many of his best poems. Hawthorne describes this room,
which he also used as his study, in his “Mosses from an Old
Manse,” which was also written here. It has three windows
with small cracked panes of glass bearing inscriptions traced
with a diamond, probably by some of the Hawthorne family.
From the northern window the wife of the Rev. William
Emerson watched the progress of the 19th of April fight ; and
one hundred years later, on the same day, her grandaughter,
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For many yeurs he did & man’s work in the field, more than
three days out of the week on an average, to support his family.
Scarcely any minister ever took so deep an interest in the tem-
poral prosperity of his people as Dr. Ripley. The honor of the
town was almost as dear to him as that of his own family.
Education, temperance, and morals were the subjects of his
watchful care. He formed, more than seventy years ago, per-
haps the first Temperance Society that ever was formed. He
went round among his people and got them to agree to banish
intoxicating drinks from funerals. But the following extracts
from a notice of him by Mr. R. W. Emerson, will be more
appreciated :

“ He was a natural gentleman—no dandy, courtly, hospitable,
manly and public spirited, his nature social, his house open to
all men. His brow was open and serene to his visitors — for he
loved men and he had no studies, no occupations which com-
pany could interrupt. His friends were his study, and to see
them, loosened his talents and his tongue.

“He was open-handed, just, and generous. Ingratitude and
meanness in his beneficiaries did not wear out his compassion.
He bore the insult, and the next day his basket for the beggar,
and his horse and chaise for the cripple were at their door. A
man of anecdote, his talk in the parlor was chiefly narrative.
We remember the remark of a gentleman who listened with
much delight to his conversation, ¢ that & man who could tell a
story so well, was company for kings.” An eminent skill he
had in saying difficult and remarkable things. Was a man a
sot or a spendthrift, or suspected of some hidden crime, or had
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hedge, is the highway, along which the British troops advanced,
April 19, 1775, and again retreated after their repulse by the
Minute Men. A few feet behind the house a ridge of land
slopes upward to a height of sixty or seventy feet, running be-
side the road from the village to a point beyond the house;
and from the crown of this ridge, puffs of smoke and flame on
the memorable battle-day showed where the patriotic farmers
were posted to pick off the grenadiers below and turn their
retreat into rout. About one half of the house as it now is
existed at that time, and the low ceilings with heavy beams
coming through, together with the gambrel roof of the older
part, attest its antiguity. .

Although the name of *The Wayside " applies to the physi-
cal situation, Hawthorne probably also connected with it a fanei-
ful symbolism. In the prefutory letter to a friend accompanying
“The Snow Image,” he wrote: * Was there ever such a weary
delay in obtaining the slightest recognition from the public as
in my case? 1 sat down by the wayside of life, like .ﬁ. man’
under enchantment, and a shrubbery sprung up around me and
the bushes grew to be saplings, and the saplings became trees,
until no exit appeared possible through the entangling depthg
of my obscurity.” I think it pleased him to conceive of hlm-
self, even after he became famous, as sitting by the waymdo\
and observing the show of human life while it flowed by him,
What was only a fancy at the time he wrote thus, in regard to
the springing up of a maze of trees, has become fact in the
dense, tall growth of firs, pitch-pines, larches, elms, oaks and
white-birch, which now envelopes the Lill. Many of thess
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large reward was offered for their apprehension. 1lle was one
of the founders and Secretary of the Social Science Associ-
ation, and, with Mr. Alcott, originated the Concord School of
Philosophy.

Of the many distinguished writers, who have from time to
time made Concord their home, William S. Robinson (** War-
rington™) is one of the very few who were born in that
rare old town. His ancestors were of English and Welsh
descent, and on both the father's and mother’s side, hatll lived
there for two generations.

Lieut. Col. John Robinson, who ¢ led the soldiers in double
file,” on the famous 19th of April, 1775, was a brother of M.
Robinson’s grandfather. Ilis maternal grandfather, Lieut.
Emerson Cogswell, (a descendant of one of the ancestors of
Mr. R. W. Emerson) was one of the minute men of Concord,
and a member of the Committee of Public Safety of that town
during the revolution. This committee alfterwards becanie the
« Social Cirele,” and Mr. Cogswell was one of its founders.

Mr. Robinson was born Dec. 7, 1818, in what is now called
the “old block,” (near the Unitarian church) once his grand-
father’s homestead. He was educated in the public schools
of the town, and at seventeen years of age began to learn
the printer's trade.  \When twenty-one, he became editor
and proprietor of the Yeoman’s Gazette, afterwards called the
Concord Republican. In 1842, the Republican was merged in
the Lowell Courier and Journal, and Mr. Robinson moved to
that city, and became one of its editors. Subsequently he was
the editor of the Boston Daily Whiy, and the Boston Repudli-
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Lieut. Col. John Robinson, who ¢ led the soldiers in double
file,” on the famous 19th of April, 1775, was a brother of Mr.
Robinson’s grandfather.  Iis maternal  grandfather, Lieut.
Emerson Cogswell, (a descendant of one of the ancestors of
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and a member of the Committee of Public Safety of that town
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active business. After an extended tour through Europe, he
returned to Boston, where he resided until 1876.

He devoted much of his time during the last years of his
life, to making plans for the benefit of his native town, and
especially for the erection and endowment of a Free Public
Library, which he lived to see completed as it now stands; and
plans for the future addition of an Art Museum, etc., gave him
occupation and delight during the many weeks and months of
severe bodily suffering which he was called to bear, and which
terminated his life. He died at the home of his sisters, in
Concord, April 27th, 1877, at the age of seventy-one.



CHAPTER V.
FREE PUBLIC LIBRARY.

In its Free Public Library Concord fecls a just pride.
To the visitor it is one of the first and most attractive points of
interest. .

The Library building, though quite picturesque in appear-
ance, is of no positive order of architecture, but rather a com-
bination of the old and the modern styles. Irom every point
of view, it strikes the eye most pleasantly, and is a decided
- ornament to the town. The front view is particularly attrac-
tive, suggesting a group of buildings rising successively one
above the other. It is situated in a central and beautiful
portion of the village, on the slightly elevated part of an

acre of land, triangular in shape, at the junction of Main and
101
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Alcott did not display the story-telling talent, either with her
voice or with her pen. Her first book was published twenty-five
years ago, and was written several years before that.
For a long period afterwards she contributed copiously to
newspapers and periodicals of no permanent renown, though
some of the pieces then written have since appeared in  her
collection of tales. Her first great success as a writer was
in 1863, when, after a brief cxperience as an army nurse,
followed by a long and almost fatal illness, she contributed
to the. Boston Commonwealth those remarkable ¢ Hospital
Sketches.” These were made up from her letters written home
during her army life, and bore the stamp of reality so strongly
upon them, that they caught at once the popular heart. They
were re-printed in many newspapers, and in a small volume, and
made her name known and beloved all over the North. From
that time forward she has been a popular writer for the l:eriodi-
cals, but her great success as an author of books did not begin
until she found a publisher of the right quality in Mr. Thomas
Niles, of the Boston firm of Roberts Brothers, who have now
published all her works for ten ycars. Within that time the
« Little Women ™ and their successors have been published, and
the sale of all her:books has exceeded w quarter of a million
copies. Her earliest novel, « Moods,” published in 1864, by A.
K. Loring, of Boston, did not at first command much attention,
but many thousand copies have since been sold. Iler second nov-
el “ Work,” was published by Roberts, in the summer of 1878,
and at once had a great sale, both in America and in Europe.
Many of her books have been translated into Frendn and Gret-
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worthy of note as the first, and for many ycars the only manu-
facturer of lead pencils in the United States.

His mother was of the Greenough family of Boston, and
daughter of Capt. John Stone, architect and builder of the first
bridge connecting Charlestown with Boston.

William was the eldest of nine children. He was, in his
youth, conscientious, earnest, generous, and reliable ; and these,
added to strict integrity, unfailing industry, and marked unself-
ishness, were his ruling characteristics through all his business
career, and to the close of life. As was recorded by one of his
friends: ¢ During his long life he was noted for his many acts
of disinterested kindness, his career as a business man was
most honorable ; he was straight-forward in all his dealings ;
while those who enjoyed his friendship, found in him purity
of purpose, which gave a charm to his quict life.”

He had a delicate constitution, and although prepared to
enter college when quite young, a student’s life was not consid-
ered advisable for him, and at the age of fifteen, he cntered a
store in Boston, where he soon gained the confidence of his
employers, and very early was entrusted with the care of pur-
chasing goods in New York, and in Europe, and subsequently
hecame a partner in the firm. Ile was afterwards engaged in

.business with parties in England, and this country, and finally

became a member of the firm of Little, Alden & Co. Boston.
He was one of the prime movers in establishing the « Pacific
Mills ” at Lawrence, Mass., to the interests of which he gave
the last few years of his business life.

In 1801 Lis et Lailodyan e was obiligedd Gy aedn s Svaaw
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William was the eldest of nine children. He was, in his
youth, conscientious, earnest, gencrous, and reliable ; and these,
added to strict integrity, unfailing industry, and marked unself-
ishness, were his ruling characteristics through all his business
career, and to the close of life. As was recorded by one of his
friends: «During his long life he was noted for his many acts
of disinterested kindness, his career as a business man was
most honorable ; he was straight-forward in all his dealings ;
while those who enjoyed his friendship, found in him purity
of purpose, which gave a charm to his quict life.”

He had a delicate constitution, and although prepared to
enter college when quite young, a student’s life was not consid-
ered advisable for him, and at the age of fifteen, he entered a
store in Boston, where he soon gained the confidence of his
employers, and very early was entrusted with the care of pur-
chasing goods in New York, and in Europe, and subsequently
hecame a partner in the firm. He was afterwards engaged in

.business with parties in England, and this country, and finally
became a member of the firm of Little, Alden & Co. Boston.
He was one of the prime movers in establishing the « Pacific
Mills ” at Lawrence, Mass., to the interests of which he gave
the last few years of his business life.

In 1801 Lis hel el Failo s e was obilioedd 4o dedn e S
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active business. After an extended tour through Europe, he
returned to Boston, where he resided until 1876.

He devoted much of his time during the last years of his
life, to making plans for the benefit of his native town, and
especially for the erection and endowment of a Free Public
Library, which he lived to see completed as it now stands; and
plans for the future addition of an Art Museum, etc., gave him
occupation and delight during the many weeks and months of
severe bodily suffering which he was called to bear, and which
terminated his life. He died at the home of his sisters, in
Concord, April 27th, 1877, at the age of seventy-one.



CHAPTER V.
FREE PUBLIC LIBRARY.

In its Free Public Library Concord feels a just pride.
To the visitor it is one of the first and most attractive points of
interest. .

The Library building, though quite picturesque in appear-
ance, is of no positive order of architecture, but rather a com-
bination of the old and the modern styles. Irom every point
of view, it strikes the eye most pleasantly, and is a decided
- ornament to the town. The front view is particularly attrac-
tive, suggesting a group of buildings rising successively one
above the other. Tt is situated in a central and beautiful
portion of the village, on the slightly elevated part of an

acre of land, triangular in shape, at the junction of Main and
101



























CHAPTER VI.

THE MONUMENTS.

The Monuments. The spot on which the British fought
has long been marked by a plain, granite monument, which
bears upon a tablet the following inscription written by Dr.
Edward Jarvis. .

Here
on the 1gth of April, 1775,
was made the first forcible resistance to
British Aggression.

On the opposite bank stood the American militia,

Here stood the invading army.

and on this spot the first of the enemy fell

in the War of the Revolution,

which gave Independence to these United States.
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the Rev. William Emerson delivered his famous speech on the
morning of the fight. A hundred years later, when the descen-
dants of the same men who fought that day returned from the
bloody battle-fields of the South, bearing in honor the same an-
cient names and assisted at the dedication of the monument to
their comrades who were * faithful unto death,” the present Mr.
Emerson delivered an address, standing in the shade of the
same noble old elm, making true the lines in the ode sung on
that day :

*“ Beneath the shadow of the elm where ninety years ago
Old Concord’s rustic heroes met to face a foreign foe,
We come to consecrate this stone to heroes of to-day,
Who perished in a holy cause as gallantly as they.

The patriot preacher’s bugle call that April morning knew,

Still lingers in the silver tones of him who speaks to you,

As on their former muster fields called by its notes again,
Those ancient heroes seem to greet brave Prescott and his men.

And as each soldier saint appears to answer to his name,

Not one has dimmed the lustre of its old unconquered fame;

They, too, have left their peaceful fields for scenes of bloody strife

And death has changed to hallowed ground the fields they tilled in life,

The bronze and stone we proudly rear must surely pass away,
But deathless lives of dying braves can never know decay;
For freed from stain of slavery, our re-united land,

The soldier’s proudest monument will ever firmly stand.”
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six vears after, on the 19th of April, Sir Edmund Andros was
imprisoned ; eighty-six years after, on the 19th of April, the
battle of Concord was fought ; eight'y-six years after, on the
16th of April, the first attack was made in Baltimore upon the
Northern forces on their way to Washington, and on the same
day the first company left Concord for Washington, composed
largely of descendants, bearing the names of the same men who
fought in 1775.

The Town Hall is behind the old elm, where the orators
before alluded to have spoken ; and next on the right is the
building formerly used as a Court House, behind which an old
gate stood, within the memory of some natives of the town,
which was the entrance to the ficld held in common by the forty
original holders.
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chureh, in times of the Bulkeleys — a coffee urn which belonged
to Gov. Winthrop —a spear carried at the head of a Concord
company two hundred years ago— Indian relics innumerable,
and thousauds of other curiosities which we have no room to
enumerate.

No person should visit Concord without examining Mr.
Davis’ wonderful collection. '



CHAPTER VIII.
VARIOUS ORGANIZATIONS.

The Middlesex Mutual Fire Insurance Co. was organized
March 29, 1826. Its first President was the Hon. Abiel Hey-
wood, distinguished as a physician as well as for honorable
service in town and state, as in later life he turned his attention
from professional to public duties and was Associate Judge of
the Court of Sessions, and as Justice of the Peace and Quorum,
heard most of the cases in and about the town which were
within his jurisdiction ; he was also town clerk for a period of
thirty-eight years. He graduated in 1781, was married at the
age of sixty-two, and died October 29th, 1839, aged 80 years.
His monument of Scotch granite is one of the ornaments of
Sleepy Hollow, and his memory is cherished by his townsmen.
His son, Geo. Heywood, holds the positions of his father as Presi-
dent of the Insurance Company, and town clerk, the books having
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million gallons daily —enough for ten thousand inhabitants,
allowing fifty gallons each per day. The character of the water
is remarkable for its extreme purity, containing as it does an
unusually small quantity of mineral and organic matter in solu-
tion, there being only one and three fourths grains of solid
matter in a gallon of the water. Prof. Goessmann says, so far
as le is able to determine, its analysis places the water of Sandy
Pond, as regards purity, first among all waters used in this or
any otlier country. The average impurities in the waters from
upwards of forty different sources in the United States and
Europe, is 6.07 grains per U. S. gallon, the range being from
1.77 for Concord to 16.838 for London. The mean elevation of
Sandy Pond above Main street is fully one hundred feet, and
when using hose, a stream can be thrown from a hydrant to the
top of any building in town. Of all the blessings which Con-
cord enjoys, this is certainly one of the purest and best.

The Concord Lyceum was formed January 7, 1829, and
the Debating Society which had been in existence six years was
united to it. TIts organization consisted at first, of President,
two Vice Presidents (all clergymen), two Secretaries, a Treas-
urer and three Curators, but for many years it has been chiefly
managed by two Curators.

Every lecturer of note in New England and New York states,
has been heard before this organization, the most celebrated
orators having made frequent addresses here, including Beecher,
Curtis, Gough, Whipple, Phillips ete. On the occasion of its
centennial anniversary, Judge Hoav delivered a most cloquent
tribute to Emerson and others who had done mmeh Lo sasuasa












CHAPTER IX.
THE SCHOOL OF PHILOSOPHY.

The School of Philosophy. Thisis the newest institution
of Concord, and is now in short session from year to year. It
was opened in 1879, at the Orchard House of Mr. Alcott, where
the sessions were held in Mr. Alcott’s library, and in the room
adjoining, which had been the studio of May Alcott, before she
went abroad in 1877, on that pilgrimage of art from which she
was never to return. In the coming summer, and in future
years, the sessions will be held in a new hall, standing on the
hillside west of the Orchard House, under the pine trees that
crown the slope. It is a plain little structure, called *“The
Chapel,” arranged for the convenience of the school, but with-
out luxury or ornament. Over its porch is trained Mr. Alcott’s
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low gave Lectures or Conversations on the following topics
— occupying for each exercise a period of above two hours on
the average: —

Lectures by Mr. Alcott. 1. Welcome, and plan of future conversations.
2. The Powers of the Person in the descending scale. 3. The same in the
ascending scale. 4. Incarnation. 5. The Powers of Personality in detail.
6. The Origin of Evil. 7. The Lapse into Evil. 8. The Return from the
Lapse (the Atonement). 9. Life Eternal. 10. Valedictory.

Lectures by Prof. W. T. Harris. 1. How Philosophical Knowing dif-
fers from all other forms of Knowing; the Five Intentions of the mind. 2.
The discovery of the First Principle and its relation to the Universe. 3. Fate
and Freedom. 4. The conscious and unconscious First Principle in relation
to human life. 5. The Personality of God. 6. The Immortality of the
Soul. 7. Physiological Psychology. 8. The method of study of Specula-
tive Philosophy. 9. Art, Religion and Philosophy in relation to each other
and to man. 10, The Dialectic.

Lectures by Mrs. E. D, Cheney. 1. The general subject of Art 2.
Greek Art. 3. Early Italian Art. 4. Italian Art. 5. Michael Angelg. 6.
Spanish Art. 7. German Art. 8. Albert Durer. 9. French Art. 10.
Contemporaneous Art.

Lectures by Dr. H. K. Fones. 1. General content of the Platonic Philos-
ophy. 2. The Apology of Socrates. 3. The Platonic idea of Church and
State. 4. The Immortality of the Soul. 5. Reminiscence as related to the
Pre-existence of the Soul. 6. Pre-existence. 7. The Human Body. 8.
The Republic. 9. The Material Body. 10, Education.

Lectures by Mr. D. A. Wasson. 1. Social Genesis and Texture. 2. The
Nation. 3. Individualism as a Political Principle. 4. Public Obligation. .
Sovereignty. 6. Absolutism crowned and uncrowned. 7. Representation,
8. Rights. 9. The Making of Freedom. 10. The Political Spirit of ’76.

Lectures by Prof. Benjamin Peirce. 1. ldeality in Science. 2. Cos-
mogony.
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Massachusetts, Vermont, Rhode Island, Connecticut, New York,
New Jersey, Pennsylvania, Virginia, North and South Carolina,
Louisiana, Kentucky, Missouri, Colorado, California, Illinois,
Indiana, Ohio, Wisconsin, Michigan and Minnesota. The
average attendance of students was about 40 ; of the students
and Faculty about 45; but at Mr. Emerson’s lecture 160 were
present, and at several of the other sessions more than 70.
The receipts from fees and single tickets paid all the expenses
of the School, without leaving a surplus; thus showing that the
scale of tuition and expense adopted was a reasonable one.
This will therefore be continued in the coming years.

So much for the details of this Academy. Its spirit can
best be learned from a morning or evening spent at the con-
versations — for its method of instruction, like that of its
founder, Mr. Alcott, is chiefly by conversation. In the session
of 1881 it was decided wisely to make the school distinct-
ively one of Philosophy, using Literature only as its vehicle
or adjunct, and dispensing with Science, as commonly under-
stood. A few lectures, perhaps, will be given to show the
relation which natural science bears to philosophy, but the
whole field of empirical and phenomenal investi ation will be
left for those who have a taste for it. Mr. Channing, the
nephew and biographer of Dr. Channing, who returned from
England in 1880 for a visit to his native land, had introduced
a new feature, the religious philosophy of the Orient, which
had lately been set forth in one of its more popular forms by
Mr. Channing’s kinsman, Mr. Edwin Arnold, author of ¢ The
Light of Asia.” It is not generally known that this poewm,





















CHAPTER IX.

LAKE WALDEN.

Lake Walden. This pleasant and popular resort which lies .
immediately on the line of the Fitchburg Railroad, is one of
the marked features of Concord, socially and geographically
speaking, and besides this, has something of history attached to
it. It was not prominent in the revolutionary war, but was, no
doubt, a favorite resort of the Musketaquid and Nashoba Indians.
and very likely, was frequently visited by the Hon. Peter
Bulkeley, the Rev. John Eliot of Roxbury, Simon Willard and
others — for these were all friends of the “praying Indians,”
who made a sort of Bible for them, one of the ordinances of
which was, that « no Indian shall take an Englishman’s canoe.”
Of this famous pond, a writer has said, “successive nations per-
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CHAPTER IX.
MAIN STREET, THE RIVER AND ITS SURROUNDINGS.

Concord River begins at Egg Rock where it i formed by
the junction of the Sudbury and Assabet; the former rising
in Hopkinton and Westborough, and the latter in Grafton, It
varies in depth from two to fifteen feet, and from one hundred
to three hundred feet in width. In olden time its waters
abounded in shad and salmon, which were so plentiful that it is
stated in the records of the colony that ¢ no apprentice can be
compelled to eat salmon more than five days in the week,” but
now only miserable little perch, pout, and breams reward the
constant anglers who frequent the banks. Skilful fishermen can
secure pickerel of from half a pound to four pounds in weight,
and the black bass with which the bay was stocked, occasionally
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As brown as the leaves are her beautiful eyes,
And as graceful her hand on the water lies

As she catches the leaves which languid float
On the lazy current along the boat.

Now she asks its name as she tears one apart —
“Fair lady that is a ¢ floating heart.””

Sad wrecks of years have drifted down

In the dreamless ocean to sink and drown

Since the beautiful eyes saw that lovely night
And haloed the river with visions bright,

But the floating heart that was caught that day
Has never been able to get away.

Ib order to show that the river worship is not confined to
natives of the town, this graphic sketch by Mrs. Delano Godd-
ard is copied here :

“Concord itself is like no other town; it seems utterly un-
disturbed by the turmoil and agitation of life, utterly free from
worldly ambition or petty rivalries of any sort. The hospitality
of its people is boundless ; and so is their refined kindness, and
the beautiful village seems the one spot where there is abiding
¢ peace on earth and good will to men.” Besides its historic
associations, its monuments, its library, and best of all, its peo-
ple, Concord lms its slow, lovely river, of which Thoreau wrote:
*Concord river is remarkable for the gentleness of its current.
I have read that the descent of an eighth of an inch in a mile
is sufficient to produce a flow. Our river has, probably, very
near the smallest allowance. The story is current, at any rate
though I believe that strict history will not bear it out, that the












THE RIVER AND ITS SURROUNDINGS. 163

and yet is not half the truth, for that would require better and
warmer words than mine to tell.”

Passing Gibraltar we come to pleasant meadows on the right
bank, and glimpses of a quiet country road. Here again the
railroad spans it with a bridge, opposite which are the Barrett
"houses previously described. The navigation is here somewhat
obstructed by the rocks and great trunks of fallen trees, and
the river winds around uutil the road is reached which usu-
ally concludes the trip toward the West. At this point is
the field where in 1859 Gen. Banks held his famous muster of
ten thousand militia. This large sandy tract known as the
Cook farm was afterwards purchased by the State for the site of
a prison to take the place of the one at Charlestown. Fine
. buildings have been erected, andin June 1878 the convicts were
established in their new quarters under the able wardenship of
Gen. S. E. Chamberlain, who has a high record for bravery in
the Mexican and Civil wars. From this establishment and the
junction of the Fitchbure, Framingbam and Lowell Middlesex
Central, and Nashua and Acton Railroads, and the extensive
pail works of Mr. Warner, the village of Warnerville or Con-
cord Junction. has rapidly grown to such dimensions as to be al-
most a town of itself, and shows signs of great enterprise and
progress in the future.

Sailing down the Concord river near the Red bridge, we pass
River Cottage, the home of G. Keyes. Esq.. formerly the farm of
Hon. Simon Brown, Lt. Gov. of the State, and Librarian of the U.
S. Honse of Representatives at Washington for vears. Mr. Brown
was editor of the New England Farmer, and by Ths tongae aed
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vard in 1846; made LL.D. of Wm. and Mary (Va.) and of
Ambherst in 1879. Studied law with Judge Hoar and Judge
'Thomas. Settled in Worcester in 1849, where he has since
resided, and had perhaps the largest practice in Massachusetts,
west of Boston, being extensively retained in the conduct of
important cases.

He was a member of the legislature in 1852 and chair-
man of committee of probate and chancery. In 1857 of the
State Senate, and chairman of the committee of the judi-
ciary.

He was elected representative from Worcester to XLI, XLII,
XLIII and XLIV congresses, declined re-election to XLV
but elected to the U. S. Senate to succeed Geo. S. Boutwell,
and took seat March 5th, 1877.

He was author of the bill to extend national education
in the South, which passed the House, but was not acted
on in the Senate. Chairman of committee of House of
Representatives in 1875, at request of legislature of Louisiana,
to investigate election returns of 1874, and wrote report of
a part of the committee, consisting of W. A. Wheeler (vice-
pres.), W. P. Frye of Maine, and himself. One of the mana-
gers of the Belknap impeachment in 1876, selected by his
associates to arguc the question of jurisdiction, the only serious
legal difficulty involved in the trial. Member of the commit-
tec which formed the Electoral Commission Bill of 1876 ; and
one of the few Republicans in the House who -advocated the
measure, and was chosen a member of the commission. Has
been trustee of Leicester Academy, and is a trustee and one of
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The radiant Indian summer, in floods of glory lay

Upon the jewelled tupelos around Fairhaven Bay,

Just as the Sun, in splendor was sinking to his rest,

And the golden gates of glory were transfigured in the west,
As she stood upon the summit in an attitude of grace,

With soft brown tresses haloed close around her winsome face,
In a dress of modest color and of beatific fit,

She lent her beauty to the spot, which seemed to hallow it.
Now the summer has departed, and the rocks lie brown and bare.
And winter, with his frosty smile, gleams through the chilly air:
Fairhaven Bay lies buried beneath its shrouds of snow,

And the rapture of her presence the cliffs no longer know,

As in the glowing sunset she made a picture there,

So tender, sweet and witching, so pure and true and fair,
That the glory of the human will still make the place divine,
And through its winter dreariness eternal summer shine.

On the left side of the bay is Baker Farm celebrated in song
and prose by Emerson, Thoreau, Channing and Lathrop, above
which is Mount Misery. Opposite is Conantum the crown of the
river, the place beloved of Thoreau and his disciples, and by the
many picnic devotees from far and near who have climbed its
cliffs, lunched under its great pines, or sentimentalized on Sunset
Rock from which for miles the windings of the river can be
traced past Mine Hill- and Lee’s Bridge to Bound Rock where
four towns join. .

As no account of Concord river would be complete without
mention of the annual Fourth of July festival which origimied
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upon it, we copy from the Wide Awake Magazine aﬁ account of
the ' ‘

CARNIVAL OF THE BOATS.

« At the appointed time the bridges and banks were covered
with anxious spectators, as the boats promptly assembled and
took their appointed placesin the line. On they came, down the
open Sudbury and from beneath the leafy arches of the Assabet
where the great hemlocks reach over to see their reflections in
the black water. '

“Mr. J. L. Gilmore had been selected as marshal, and meeting
his aids in their light wherries or birch canoes, he led off the
glittering train promptly and without confusion. The new
moon was fortunately obscured by a heavy cloud, and dense
blackness hung over the river until the procession drew near
when sky and water were lighted up with ten thousand rain-
bows. Many of the large boats carried lanterns of red and
green hung over the bow, close to the water. All had high
frames from which Chinese lanterns of many hues dangled and
danced with the motion of the oars.

“One gracclul Whitehall boat was ornamented in truly Japan-
ese style, as a long bamboo rod projected from stem to stern
hung with lanterns of graduated sizes. Omne blue and white
dory was adorned with twenty-seven brilliant lanterns, and was
rowed by a young lady, while the owner sat in the bow and
burned gold fire in a large pan. A great black and yellow dory
bore a huge transparency representing the old bridge and the
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Liberty Bell, while a neat boat from the Hudson had a great
crystal shield with appropriate device. The cedar wherry, the
pride of the river, was as graceful as ever in its adornment, and
the boats from the North Bridge, were perfectly gorgeous with
lanterns of gelatine and paper, Roman candles and brilliant fires
of many hues. The place of honor in the front was, however,
allotted to a low white boat having a handsome boy in costume
at the bow, and a lovely blonde from the South at the helm,
with tri-colored gelatine lanterns surrounding her fair head.

“Thus led, they glide solemnly under the dark bridge and
turn around a sharp bend till they see in surprise the bridge
between the two monuments appear in lines of colored light,
as its graceful outlines have been closely decorated by lanterns
of many kinds; and as the marshal's boat passes under it,
a volley of rockets spring up from Honeysuckle island, and
fireworks of varied kinds follow until the long array of boats
has countermarched through the new stone bridge, and as-
sembled in a glittering crowd below the Minute Man which
stands out from the darkness in its wondrous strength and
grace, by the fitful glare of the changing light.

* The spectators who crowd the high banks on each side pro-
nounce the spectacle unsurpassed by anything they have seen,
as at a little distance the boats are only distinguished by the
outlines of light, and the reflections above and below seem to
blend together in rainbows.”


















